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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF 

ABC ISLAMIC BANK (E.C.) 
 

 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ABC Islamic Bank 
(E.C.) ("the Bank”) and its subsidiary (together "the Group") which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and the related consolidated statements 
of income, cash flows, changes in owners' equity and sources and uses of Zakah and charity 
funds for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and the 
consolidated results of the operations, its cash flows, changes in owners' equity and sources and 
uses of Zakah and charity funds for the year then ended in accordance with Financial Accounting 
Standards ("FAS") issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial 
Institutions ["AAOIFI"] as modified by the Central Bank of Bahrain ("CBB") ("FAS issued by 
AAOIFI as modified by the CBB"). 
 
In our opinion, the Bank has also complied with the Islamic Shari'ah Principles and Rules as 
determined by the Shari'ah Supervisory Board of the Bank during the year ended 31 December 
2021. 
 
Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards for Islamic Financial Institutions 
(ASIFI) issued by AAOIFI. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the AAOIFI's Code of Ethics for 
Accountants and Auditors of Islamic Financial Institutions, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with this Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Other information included in the Group's 2021 Annual Report 
Other information consists of the information included in the Annual Report, other than the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Board of Directors is 
responsible for the other information. Prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we obtained the 
Directors report which forms part of the annual report, and the remaining sections of the annual 
report are expected to be made available to us after that date. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement, of this other information, we are required to report 
the fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF 

ABC ISLAMIC BANK (E.C.) (continued) 
 

 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements 
These consolidated  financial  statements and the Group's undertaking to operate in accordance 
with Islamic Shari’ah Rules and Principles are the responsibility of the Bank's Board of Directors. 
 
The  Board  of  Directors  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the  
consolidated financial statements in accordance with FAS issued by AAOIFI as modified by the 
CBB and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our  objectives  are  to  obtain  reasonable  assurance  about  whether  the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from  material misstatement, whether due to fraud or  error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report  that  includes our opinion. Reasonable  assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in  accordance with ASIFI issued by 
AAOIFI will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from  
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ASIFI issued by AAOIFI, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material  misstatement  resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
- Obtain  an  understanding  of  internal  control  relevant  to  the  audit  in  order  to  design  

audit procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the  circumstances,  but  not  for  the  purpose  
of  expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
  



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF 

ABC ISLAMIC BANK (E.C.) (continued) 
 

 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued) 
 
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 
 
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty  exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in   the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify  our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial  statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the audit committee with a statement that  we  have  complied  with relevant   
ethical   requirements   regarding   independence,   and   to  communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
 
  



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF 

ABC ISLAMIC BANK (E.C.) (continued) 
 

 

Report on Other Regulatory Requirements 

 

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) 
Rule Book (Volume 2), we report that: 
 
a)   the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial 

statements are in agreement therewith; 
 
b)  the financial information contained in the Report of the Board of Directors is consistent 

with the consolidated financial statements; 
 
c)  we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the Central 

Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 2 and  
applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives or the terms of the Bank’s 
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2021 that 
might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its 
consolidated financial position; and 

 
d)  satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by management in 

response to all our requests.  
 
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is Kazim 
Merchant. 
 

 
 
Partner's registration no. 244 

17 February 2022 
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain 







ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Notes US$ '000 US$ '000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income for the year 29,865        28,612       

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 99               89              

Gain on sale of investments - net (3,573)                (2,962)

Charge for expected credit losses - net 19 1,119                   9,497 

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities         27,510        35,236 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Murabaha receivables (53,533)      (208,603)   

Ijarah 30,100        35,333       

Other assets 1,711          (1,776)       

Other liabilities (70)             29,155       

Murabaha and other payables (175,176)    228,470     

Equity of investment account holders 227,314      49,508       

Net cash flows from operating activities         57,856      167,323 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investments (290,000)        (301,699)

Proceeds from sale / redemption of investments 292,393      229,914     

Purchase of equipments (120)                          (9)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities           2,273       (71,794)

FINANCING ACTIVITY

Dividend paid to the shareholder 15 (25,751)      (100,000)   

Cash used in financing activity (25,751)      (100,000)   

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 34,378        (4,471)       

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 12,212        16,683       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 6         46,590        12,212 

    The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements.____________________________________________________________________________________
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN OWNERS' EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2021

Investments Total

Share Statutory fair value Retained Total owners'

capital reserve reserve earnings reserves equity

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2021 132,500  34,209  408          125,767   160,384   292,884    

Net income for the year             -              -                -         29,865       29,865       29,865 

Cumulative changes in fair value

of equity investment             -              -              (64)              -              (64)             (64)

Total comprehensive income 

for the year (note 20)             -              -              (64)       29,865       29,801       29,801 

Transfer to statutory 

reserve (note 14)             -        2,986              -         (2,986)               -                 -   

Dividends paid* (note 15)             -              -                -       (25,751)     (25,751)      (25,751)

At 31 December 2021 132,500  37,195  344          126,895   164,434   296,934    

As at 1 January 2020 132,500  31,348  1,087       200,016   232,451   364,951    

Net income for the year             -              -                -         28,612       28,612       28,612 

Cumulative changes in fair value

of equity investment             -              -            (679)              -            (679)           (679)

Total comprehensive income 

for the year (note 20)             -              -            (679)       28,612       27,933       27,933 

Transfer to statutory 

reserve (note 14)             -        2,861              -         (2,861)               -                 -   

Dividends paid* (note 15)             -              -                -     (100,000)   (100,000)    (100,000)

At 31 December 2020 132,500  34,209  408          125,767   160,384   292,884    

Reserves

*During the year, the Bank paid dividend of US$ 19.44 (2020: US$ 75.47) per share amounting to US$ 25.8

million (2020: US$ 100 million) upon approval by the shareholder at the Annual General Meeting.

The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements.________________________________________________________________________________________

8



ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)

Year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Sources of Zakah and charity funds

Balance at 1 January 447          514          

Charity 10            22            

Zakah due from the Bank (*) 409          397          

Total sources of Zakah and charity funds 866          933          

Uses of Zakah and charity funds

Zakah and charity paid (422)        (486)        

Undistributed Zakah and charity funds at 31 December (note 11) 444          447          

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SOURCES AND USES OF ZAKAH AND 

CHARITY FUNDS

* Zakah is calculated on the Zakah base of the Group according to Financial Accounting Standard 9

issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions using the net

invested funds method and amounts to US$ 7,648 thousand (2020: US$ 7,576 thousand) of which

US$ 409 thousand (2020: US$ 397 thousand) is payable by the Bank.

       The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements.__________________________________________________________________________________
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

1 INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

Nature of Date of Country of

Business incorporation incorporation

30 November Cayman US$ 2,000

1993 Islands

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

(a)

(b)

ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.) [the "Bank"] is an exempt joint stock company incorporated in the Kingdom of

Bahrain on 10 December 1985 and registered with the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism

under commercial registration number 16864. The Bank and its subsidiary [together "the Group"]

operate under an Islamic wholesale banking license issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain [the CBB]

and are engaged in financial trading in accordance with the teachings of Islam (Shari’a). The postal

address of the Bank’s registered office is PO Box 2808, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain. As of 31

December 2021, total number of employees employed by the Bank was 17 (2020: 17).

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) ["ABC (B.S.C.)" or "the parent"], which operates under a wholesale

banking license issued by the CBB, holds 100% of the share capital of the Bank.

The Bank’s Shari’a Supervisory Board is entrusted with the responsibility to ensure the Group’s

adherence to Shari’a rules and principles in its transactions and activities.

The ownership in the subsidiary of the Bank as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Name Amount and % of holding

ABC Clearing Company Islamic Investment 

Company 100% management shares

The Bank operates only in the Kingdom of Bahrain and does not have any branches.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 17 February 2022.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with applicable rules and 

regulations issued by the CBB including the CBB circulars on regulatory concessionary measures in

response to COVID-19. These rules and regulations, in particular CBB circular OG/226/2020 dated 21

June 2020, require the adoption of all Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) issued by the Accounting

and Auditing Organisation of Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) with two exceptions which are set out 

below. In accordance with the AAOIFI framework, for matters not covered by FAS, the Group uses the

requirements of the relevant International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). This framework is referred to as “FAS issued by

AAOIFI”.

The two exceptions mentioned above are as follows:

recognition of modification losses on financial assets arising from payment holidays provided to

customers impacted by COVID-19 without charging additional profit, in equity instead of profit or

loss as required by FAS issued by AAOIFI. Any other modification gain or loss on financial assets 

are recognised in accordance with the requirements of FAS issued by AAOIFI; and

recognition of financial assistance received from the government and / or regulators in response

to its COVID-19 support measures that meets the government grant requirement, in equity,

instead of profit or loss. This will only be to the extent of any modification loss recorded in equity

as a result of (a) above, and the balance amount to be recognised in profit or loss. Any other

financial assistance is recognised in accordance with the relevant requirements of FAS issued by

AAOIFI.

FAS issued by AAOIFI along with the two exceptions noted above is referred to as “FAS issued by

AAOIFI as modified by the CBB”.

____________________________________________________________________________________
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Directives issued by the CBB and Government assistance 

2.3 Accounting convention

2.4 Basis of consolidation

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies

a) Financial contracts

b) Impairment assessment 

Impairment of financial assets

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements

are set out below:

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiary

as at 31 December each year. A subsidiary is an entity over which the Bank has power to control which

is other than fiduciary in nature. The financial information of the subsidiary is prepared for the same

accounting year using accounting policies consistent with the Bank.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Control is

achieved where the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating

policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or

disposed off during the year are included in the consolidated statement of income from the date of

acquisition or up to the date of disposal as appropriate. A change in the Group's ownership of a

subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from inter-

group transactions are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests, if any, represents the portion of net income and net assets not held, directly or

indirectly by the Group and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income and within

owners' equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from parent shareholders'

equity. Transactions with the non-controlling interest are handled in the same way as transactions with

external parties.

Financial contracts consist of balances with banks, financial institutions and the CBB, Murabaha

payables, Investments, Murabaha receivables (net of deferred profits), Ijarah, other receivables and

payables, financing commitments and financial guarantee contracts. Balances relating to these contracts

are stated net of allowance for credit losses.

The Group applies a three-stage approach to measure allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on

financial assets subject to credit risk carried at amortised cost. Assets migrate through the following

three stages based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for

measurement at fair value of "equity type instruments carried at fair value through equity" and Tabdeel.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in United States Dollars [US$], being the

functional currency of the Bank. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (US$ '000) unless

otherwise stated. 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, based on a regulatory directive issued by the CBB as

concessionary measures to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 and customer requests received, the

Group provided payment holidays on financing exposures amounting to US$ 60 million (2020: US$ 112

million) as part of its support to impacted customers, however, this did not result in any modification loss.

____________________________________________________________________________________
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Impairment assessment (continued)

Stage 1: Twelve months ECL

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired

- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; and

- probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated

future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying

amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance for credit losses account and the

amount of the ECL is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Financing contracts together with the associated allowance for credit losses are written off when there is

no realistic prospect of future recovery and collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the

Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated allowance for credit losses increases or

decreases because of an event occurring after the ECL was recognised, the previously recognised ECL

is increased or reduced through the consolidated statement of income.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original

effective profit rate. If a financial asset has a variable profit rate, the discount rate for measuring any ECL

is the current effective profit rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows

of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs of

obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

For Stage 3 financial contracts, the provisions for credit-impairment are determined based on the

difference between the net carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the financial contract. 

For credit exposures where there has not been a Significant Increase in Credit Risk ("SICR") since initial

recognition and that are not credit impaired, a twelve months ECL is recognised.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-

impaired. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

Twelve-month ECL (Stage 1) is the portion of ECL that results from probable default events on a

financial contract within twelve months after the reporting date. 

For credit exposures where there has been a SICR since intial recognition but that are not credit

impaired, a lifetime ECL is recognised. Lifetime ECL (Stage 2) is a probability-weighted estimate of

credit losses and is determined based on the difference between the present value of all contractual

cash flows that are due to the Group and the present value of the recoverable amount, for financial

assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date. 

Financial contracts are assessed as credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental

impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred, not limited to defaults by

customer.

____________________________________________________________________________________
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Impairment assessment (continued)

- Probability of Default (PD);

- Loss Given Default (LGD); and

- Exposure At Default (EAD).

Definition of default

Probability of default (PD)

Incorporation of forward looking information

Loss given default (LGD)

The Group employs statistical models to incorporate macro-economic factors on historical default rates.

In case none of the macro-economic parameters are statistically significant or the results of forecasted

PDs are significantly deviated from the present forecast for the economic conditions, quantitative PD

overlay shall be used by the management after analysing the portfolio. 

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures.

The Group collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures. The Group

employs statistical models for analysing the data collected and generates estimates of PD of exposures

and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time. This analysis includes the

identification and calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and changes in key macro-

economic factors, across various geographies in which the Bank has taken exposures. For most

exposures, the key macro-economic indicators include gross domestic product (GDP) growth, interest

rates, oil prices and equity prices. 

Cure rate: Defined as the ratio of accounts which have fallen to default and have managed to move

backward to the performing accounts.

Recovery rate: Defined as the ratio of liquidation value to market value of the underlying collateral at the

time of default would also account for expected recovery rate from a general claim on the individual’s

assets for the unsecured portion of the exposure.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the following variables:

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit

obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as liquidating collateral; or

the borrower is past due 90 days or more on any credit obligation to the Group. In assessing whether a

borrower is in default, the Group considers both qualitative factors (including as noted above) such as

breaches of covenants and quantitative factors such as overdue status and non-payment on another

obligation of the same issuer to the Group. 

Incorporating forward-looking information increases the level of judgment as to how changes in these

macroeconomic factors will affect the ECL applicable to the Stage 1 and Stage 2 exposures which are

considered as performing (Stage 3 are the exposures under default category). The methodologies and

assumptions involved, including any forecasts of future economic conditions, are reviewed periodically.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based

on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties and collaterals held, based on

historical data using both internal and external factors including hair cuts.

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed models and other historical data.

These are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described below. 

Measurement of ECL

Discounting rate: Defined as the opportunity cost of the recovery value not being realised on the day of

default adjusted for time value.

____________________________________________________________________________________

13



ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Impairment assessment (continued)

Exposure at default (EAD)

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

Renegotiated financial assets

Backward transition

Credit Conversion Factor

Write-offs

The Group considers renegotiated financing to customers due to financial difficulties as one of the

reasons for determining the SICR. This may involve extending the payment arrangements and

documenting the agreement of new conditions for providing finance. Management continuously reviews

renegotiated facilities to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. 

The contractual terms of a financing may be modified for a number of reasons including changing

market conditions, and other factors not related to the current or potential credit deterioration of a

customer.

The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary on a portfolio level and

include quantitative and qualitative factors, including days past due and risk rating. 

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial contract has increased significantly since

initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and

available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and

analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment including forward-

looking information. 

The estimation of EAD takes into account any unexpected changes in the exposure after the

assessment date, including expected drawdowns on committed facilities through the application of a

credit conversion factor (CCF). The EAD is estimated using the outstanding exposure adjusted by CCF

times undrawn portion of the facilities. In case of financial guarantee, EAD is estimated as CCF times

the committed amount.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the

current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amounts allowed under the

contract including amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For financing

commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD is converted to consolidated statement of financial

position equivalents. 

Financing contracts are written-off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of

recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets

or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-

off. However, financial assets that are written-off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order

to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

The accounts which are performing prior to restructuring but restructured due to financial difficulty are

categorised under Stage 2. The accounts that are non-performing or meet any criteria for classifying as

non-performing (prior to restructuring), then such restructured accounts are categorised under Stage 3.  

The outstanding exposure is calculated as principal plus profit. The undrawn portion refers to the portion

of the unutilised credit limit. 

FAS 30 staging model is of symmetrical nature as exposures may migrate from lifetime ECL

measurement (Stage 2 and Stage 3) to 12 month ECL measurement (Stage 1). Once such indicators

are no longer triggered, movement back to Stage 1 or Stage 2 are subject to certain criterias such as

cooling off period, SICR indicators and payment history, where applicable.

____________________________________________________________________________________
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Impairment assessment (continued)

Presentation of allowance for credit losses in the consolidated statement of financial position

- 

- 

- 

c. Investments

Initial and subsequent measurement

Debt type instrument carried at amortised cost

Equity type instrument carried at fair value through equity

d. Tabdeel

Allowance for credit losses are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

where a financial contract includes both a drawn and undrawn component, and the Group has

identified the ECL on the financing commitments / off-balance sheet component separately from

those on the drawn component, the Group presents allowance for credit losses for drawn

components as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Allowance

for credit losses for the undrawn component is presented as a provision in other liabilities.

These are classified as either carried at amortised cost, fair value through the statement of income or

fair value through equity.

All investments are initially recognised on the acquisition date at their fair value plus transaction costs,

except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through statement of income which are

carried at fair value only. Subsequent measurement depends upon the classification of financial assets

as follows:

Investments which have fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities and where the Group has

both the intention and the ability to hold till maturity are classified as debt type instruments carried at

amortised cost. After initial measurement, such investments are carried at amortised cost, less

allowance for credit losses, if any. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any premium or

discount on acquisition. Any gain or loss on such type of instruments is recognised in the consolidated

statement of income, when the instruments are de-recognised or impaired.

Subsequent to acquisition, equity type instruments are remeasured at fair value, with unrealised gains

and losses recognised in a separate component of equity under investments fair value reserve until the

investment is derecognised or the investment is determined to be impaired. On derecognition or

impairment, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in the consolidated

statement of income. Equity investments at fair value through equity are tested for impairment at each

reporting period.

financial assets measured at amortised cost, as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of

the assets; 

financing commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally as a provision in other

liabilities; and

Tabdeel transactions are measured at fair value through statement of income except for when the

tabdeel is designated and qualifies as a hedging instrument and if so, the nature of the item being

hedged determines the method of recognising the resulting gain or loss. The Group classifies tabdeel

transactions as fair value hedges.

Tabdeel is a transaction structured to assist the Group to hedge its profit rate risk. Tabdeel is structured

into two distinct transactions. Tawarruq financing asset and Tawarruq placement liability (representing

notional amount), both with the same counterparty. The Tawarruq financing asset is offset against the

Tawarruq placement liability and therefore Tabdeel transactions are recorded off-balance sheet.

____________________________________________________________________________________

15



ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

d. Tabdeel (continued)

e. Murabaha receivables

f. Ijarah receivables

g. Mudaraba

h. Equipment and Ijarah 

Ijarah assets 1-10 years

Equipment 3-5 years

i. Murabaha and other payables

j. Equity of investment account holders

Ijarah receivables are the outstanding rentals at the end of each year less any expected credit loss.

Mudaraba are partnerships in which the Bank contributes capital. These are stated at the fair value of

consideration given less allowance for credit losses, if any.  

These are initially recorded at cost. Ijarah comprises of plant and equipment.

Depreciation is provided on assets under Ijarah, at rates calculated to write-off the cost of the asset over

Ijarah term.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of

a hedged item for which the effective profit rate method is used is amortised to the consolidated

statement of income over the period to maturity and recorded as income from investments.

Murabaha receivables are stated net of deferred profits and allowance for credit losses. Murabaha

receivables are sales on deferred terms. The Group arranges a Murabaha transaction by buying a

commodity (which represents the object of the Murabaha) and then resells this commodity to the

Murabeh (beneficiary) after computing a margin of profit over cost. The sale price (cost plus the profit

margin) is repaid in installments by the Murabeh over the agreed period.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all equipment over its expected useful life. 

The estimated useful lives of assets for calculation of depreciation are as follows:

Changes in the fair value of tabdeel transactions that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are

recorded in the consolidated statement of income, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged

assets that are attributable to the hedged risk.

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and

hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various

hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an

ongoing basis, of whether the tabdeel that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in

offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Murabaha and other payables are carried at amortised cost plus accrued profit less amounts repaid.

The Group obtains deposits from customers on Wakala basis. These deposits are held under multi-level

arrangements wherein the Group invest funds received under “Wakala" as “Mudaraba” under express

authority from Wakala account holders in its financing and investment assets. These are recorded as

quasi equity under equity of investment account holders at the amounts received on initial recognition.

Subsequently, profit is allocated to Wakala funds on the basis of their contribution in the commingled

assets.
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

k. Provisions

l. Determination of fair values

m. Revenue recognition

Income from Murabaha receivables

Income from Mudaraba

Ijarah income

Fees and commission income

n. Expense recognition

Profit on due to parent and other payables

Return on equity of investment account holders

Fees and commission income are recognised when earned.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based

on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

Income net of depreciation is recognised on a time-apportioned basis over the lease term. Income that is

overdue for 90 days or more is suspended until it is received in cash.

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of

a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The

expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of income net any

reimbursements. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient

data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and

minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Observable data used along with the Group's approach to

determining fair values of financial instruments and quantitative disclosure are disclosed in note 22.

Profit on these is accrued on a time-apportioned basis over the period of the contract based on the

principal amounts outstanding.

Return on equity of investment account holders is based on the income generated from jointly financed

assets after deducting the mudarib share (in case of mudaraba contracts) and is accrued based on the

terms and conditions of the underlying mudaraba or wakala agreement. Investors' share of income

represents income generated from assets financed by investment account holders net of allocated

operating expenses excluding investment related expenses. The Group's share of profit is deducted

from the investors' share of income before distribution to investors.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group. The fair value of an

asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing

the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

Income is recognised by proportionately allocating the attributable profits over the period of the credit,

based on the principle amounts outstanding, irrespective of when cash is received. Income related to

accounts that are overdue for 90 days or more, is suspended and recorded on receipt basis.

Income on Mudaraba is recognised when the right to receive payments is established or on distribution.

Income related to accounts that are overdue for 90 days or more, is suspended until it is received in

cash.
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

o. Group's share as mudarib  

p. Foreign currencies

q. Offsetting

r. Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets

-

-

-

s. Zakah

t. Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Translation gains or losses on non-monetary investments carried at fair value through equity are

included in owners' equity as part of the fair value adjustments on fair value through equity investments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated

statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts

and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognised where:

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated

using the exchange rates as at the date of the initial transaction.

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in US Dollars at the spot rate of exchange prevailing at the

value dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency are retranslated into

US Dollars at the rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. Any gains or losses are taken to the

consolidated statement of income. 

The Group’s share as a mudarib for managing the equity of investment account holders is accrued

based on the terms and conditions of the related mudaraba agreements.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-

through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of

the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group's

continuing involvement in the asset.

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to third party under a 'pass-

through' arrangement; and 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled

or expires.

the right to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

Zakah is calculated on the Zakah base of the Group according to FAS 9 "Zakah" issued by AAOIFI using

the net invested funds method.

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the consolidated statement of cash flows and comprise of

bank balances with original maturities of 90 days or less.

either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, but has transferred

control of the asset. 
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

u. Trade date accounting

v. Employees’ end of service benefits

w. Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments                                                                                                                                           

x. Government grants                                                                                                                                           

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Going concern

The Group provides for end of service benefits to all its employees. Entitlement to these benefits is

based upon the employees' length of service and the completion of a minimum service period. The

expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. Bahraini employees are

also covered by the Social Insurance Organisation and the Group's obligations are limited to the

amounts contributed to the scheme, which is expensed when due.

The Group issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  

An allowance for credit loss is calculated and recorded for these in a similar manner as for debt type

instruments as explained in note 2.5(b).

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received

and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is

recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is

intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income

in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset.

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at

nominal amounts and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the

pattern of consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.

The Bank's management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern

and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt

upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements

continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to exercise judgment

and make estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. The most

significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows:

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being

the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is

measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the

consolidated statement of income, and an allowance for credit losses.

The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in 'Fee and commission

income' on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the

commitment, the Group is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. 

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments,

where the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded in the consolidated statement

of financial position.
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (ECL)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fair value of unquoted investments

4 NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED

FAS 32 Ijarah (FAS 32)

This standard supersedes FAS 8 “Ijarah and Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek”. The standard aims at setting

out principles for the classification, recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of Ijarah type

transactions including their different forms entered into by an institution, in both the capacities of lessor

and lessee. 

Under this standard, an institution, in its capacity either as lessor or lessee shall classify each of its Ijarah 

into a) operating Ijarah b) Ijarah Muntahia Biltamleek with expected transfer of ownership after the end of

the Ijarah term – either through sale or gift; and c) Ijarah Muntahia Biltamleek with gradual transfer – with

gradual transfer of ownership during the Ijarah term including Diminishing Musharaka Ijarah.

The Group's ECL calculation are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions

regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. A number of significant judgements

are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

Internal credit rating model, which assigns probability of defaults (PDs) to the individual ratings;

Nonetheless, the actual amount that is realised in a future transaction may differ from the current

estimate of fair value and may still be outside management estimates given the inherent uncertainty

surrounding valuation of unquoted investments.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements are

consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2020, except for adoption of the following new standards or certain

amendments to existing standards that have become applicable to the Group effective from 1 January

2021. The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued

but is not yet effective.  

Determining relevant period of exposure with respect to the revolving credit facilities and facilities

undergoing restructuring at the time of the reporting date.

Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;

Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as

GDP, oil prices, equity indices, unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PD,

exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD);

Selection and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios to derive the economic inputs into

the ECL models;

Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL; and

Due to Covid-19 scenario, the Group has applied significant judgement with respect to SICR

requirements. The Group has considered provision of extensions / forbearance in payment schedules to

customers for the staging purpose.

The measurement of the ECL for financial assets subject to credit risk measured at amortised cost is an

area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic

conditions, credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses),

estimation of the amount and timing of the future cash flows and collateral values. These estimates are

driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

Where the fair value of the Group's investment portfolio cannot be derived from an active market, they

are determined using a variety of valuation techniques. These techniques rely on market observable

data where possible. Judgement by management is required to establish fair values through the use of

appropriate valuation models. Judgements include consideration of comparable assets or value of future

cash flows.

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk (SICR);
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4 NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED (continued)

FAS 32 Ijarah (FAS 32) (Continued)

FAS 33 Investment in sukuk, shares and similar instruments (FAS 33)

- Monetary Debt-type instrument;

- Non-monetary Debt-type instrument;

- Equity-type instrument; and

- Other investment instruments.

For the purpose of this standard, each investment is to be categorised as one of the below investment

categories depending on its nature:

Classification

Unless the irrevocable initial recognition choices provided below are exercised, the Group shall classify

investments subject to this standard as subsequently measured at either (i) amortised cost, (ii) fair value

through equity or (iii) fair value through statement of income, on the basis of both the Group’s business

model for managing investments and the expected cash flow characteristics of the investment in line

with the nature of the underlying Islamic contracts. 

Investment in a monetary debt-type instrument, as it reflects a debt at the back-end, shall be initially

classified and measured at cost, till the time the transaction at the back-end is executed, and at

amortised cost thereafter. 

Investment in a non-monetary debt-type instrument or other investment instrument, may be classified

under any of the three categories ((i) amortised cost, (ii) fair value through equity or (iii) fair value through

statement of income depending on the Group’s business model.

Investment in equity-type instrument is carried as investment at fair value through statement of income

unless the Group makes an irrevocable classification choice at initial recognition to classify this as

investment at fair value through equity. An investment held for trading purposes shall always fall in fair

value through statement of income classification.

The standard includes two recognition exemptions for Ijarah – Ijarah of “low-value” assets (e.g., personal

computers) and short-term Ijarah (i.e., Ijarah with a Ijarah term of 12 months or less). At the

commencement date of the Ijarah, a lessee will recognise an asset representing the right to use the

underlying asset during the Ijarah term (i.e., the right-of-use asset) and a net Ijarah liability, duly

comprising of a) gross Ijarah liability and b) deferred Ijarah cost (shown as contra-liability). Further, the

net Ijarah liabilities should be netted off against the advance rental payments made prior to the

commencement of Ijarah term.

The adoption of the above accounting standard did not have an impact on the Group’s assets as it does

not hold any assets that qualify as right of use assets with a corresponding Ijarah liability. 

Recognition and initial measurement

All investments are initially recognised at their fair value plus transaction costs except for investments at

fair value through statement of income which are recognised at fair value only. Transaction costs relating

to investments at fair value through statement of income are charged to the statement of income when

incurred. A regular way purchase of investments are recognised upon the transfer of control to investor.

FAS 33 aims at setting out principles for the classification, recognition, measurement, presentation, and

disclosure of investments in Sukuk, shares and other similar instruments of investments made by

Islamic financial institutions. The standard defines the key types of instruments of Shari’a compliant

investments and the primary accounting treatments commensurate to the characteristic and business

model of the institution under which the investments are made, managed and held. This standard

supersedes FAS 25 “Investment in Sukuk” and has been adopted by the Group on its effective date of 1

January 2021. Adoption of FAS 33 has resulted in changes in accounting policies for recognition,

classification and measurement of investment in Sukuk and equity investments as explained below:
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4 NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED (continued)

FAS 33 Investment in sukuk, shares and similar instruments (FAS 33) (continued)

FAS 34 "Financial Reporting for Sukuk-holders" (FAS 34)

FAS 35 Risk reserves (FAS 35)

Adoption of the above standard had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group at the time of adoption.  

Reclassification

When, and only when, the Group changes its business model for managing investments, it reclassifies

all affected financial assets prospectively from the reclassification date. In case of reclassification, the

Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses)

or returns / profits.

The Group assessed the implementation of FAS 33 and concluded that except for equity type

investments, all financial assets held by the Group are classified as investments in monetary debt-type

instruments with the business model of "hold to collect" and accordingly classified at amortised cost.

With regard to the equity securities, the Group opted to make an irrevocable classification choice to

classify all of them as investment at fair value through equity.

This standard prescribes the accounting principles and reporting requirements for underlying assets of a

sukuk instrument. It requires the originator to prepare or cause to prepare financing reports as needed

under this standard.

Investments carried at fair value through equity are remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting

period. The resultant remeasurement gain or loss, if any, being the difference between the carrying

amount and the fair value is directly recognised in equity under “investments fair value reserve”.

Investments carried at fair value through equity are tested for impairment at each reporting period in

accordance with FAS 30.

Subsequent measurement

a) Investments at amortised cost

Investments carried at amortised cost are remeasured as such using the effective profit rate method. All

gains or losses arising from the amortisation process and those arising from derecognition or impairment 

of the investment, are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Investments carried at

amortised cost are tested for impairment at each reporting period in accordance with FAS 30

“Impairment, credit losses and onerous commitments”.

b) Investments at fair value through statement of income

Investments carried at fair value through statement of income are remeasured at fair value at end of

each reporting period. The resultant remeasurement gain or loss, if any being the difference between the

carrying amount and the fair value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

c) Investments at fair value through equity

Adoption of the above standard had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group at the time of adoption.  

Adoption of the above standard had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group at the time of adoption.  

This standard defines the accounting and financial reporting principles for risk reserves to be in line with

global best practices for accounting and risk management. This standard complements FAS 30

“Impairment, Credit Losses and Onerous Commitments” (FAS 30). Both standards FAS 35 and FAS 30

together supersede the earlier FAS 11 “Provisions and Reserves”. This standard is effective beginning

or after 1 January 2021, with early adoption permitted, only if the financial institution decided to early

adopt FAS 30. 
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5

6 BANK BALANCES 

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Balance with ABC (B.S.C.) 46,012        11,748         

Balances with other banks 578             464              

46,590        12,212         

7 INVESTMENTS

Fair value

Amortised through

cost equity Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Debt type

Quoted investments

 - Sukuk 690,381      -              690,381       

Unquoted investments

- Sukuk 184,810      -              184,810       

Allowance for credit losses (24,630)       -              (24,630)        

Debt type - net 850,561      -              850,561       

Equity type

Quoted investments

- Equity shares -              1,888          1,888           

At 31 December 2021 850,561      1,888          852,449       

The Board of Directors does not expect the above accounting standards to have an impact on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

AAOIFI issued FAS 38 “Wa’ad, Khiyar and Tahawwut” in 2020. The objective of this standard is to

prescribe the accounting and reporting principles for recognition, measurement and disclosures in

relation to Shari’ah compliant Wa’ad (promise), Khiyar (option) and Tahawwut (hedging) arrangements

for Islamic financial institutions (the institutions). This standard shall be effective for the financial periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with early adoption permitted.

NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET 

EFFECTIVE

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards issued but not yet effective up to the

date of issuance of the Group's consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group

intends to adopt these standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards, if applicable,

when they become effective:

At 31 December 2021

AAOIFI issued FAS 37 “Financial Reporting by Waqf Institutions” in 2020. The objective of the standard

is to establish principles of financial reporting by Waqf institutions, which are established and operated in

line with Shari’ah principles and rules. This standard shall be effective for the financial periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2022 with early adoption permitted.

FAS 38 Wa'ad, Khiyar and Tahawwut (effective 1 January 2022)

FAS 37 "Financial Reporting by Waqf Institutions"  (effective 1 January 2022)
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7 INVESTMENTS (continued)

At 31 December 2020 Fair value

Amortised through

cost equity Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Debt type

Quoted investments

 - Sukuk 799,241      -              799,241       

Unquoted investments

- Sukuk 113,829      -              113,829       

Allowance for credit losses (22,121)       -              (22,121)        

Debt type - net 890,949      -              890,949       

Equity type

Quoted investments

Equity shares                 -   1,952          1,952           

At 31 December 2020 890,949      1,952          892,901       

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Sukuk 851,704           -                      23,487             875,191            

Allowance for credit losses (4,130)              -                      (20,500)            (24,630)             

           847,574                        -                2,987             850,561 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Sukuk 889,590           -                      23,480             913,070            

Allowance for credit losses (2,371)              -                      (19,750)            (22,121)             

           887,219                        -                3,730             890,949 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2021 2,371               -                      19,750             22,121              

Charge for the year - net                1,759                        -                   750                 2,509 

As at 31 December 2021                4,130                        -              20,500               24,630 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2020 1,137               -                      8,500               9,637                

Net transfer between stages (55)                  -                      55                    -                        

Charge for the year - net                1,289                        -              11,195               12,484 

As at 31 December 2020                2,371                        -              19,750               22,121 

The following are the stage wise break up of the debt type investments as at 31 December 2021 and 31

December 2020:

An analysis of movement in the allowance for the credit losses during the year is as follows:

Profit received during the year on impaired investments classified under Stage 3 amounted to US$ nil

thousand (2020: US$ nil).

31 December 2021

31 December 2020
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7 INVESTMENTS (continued)

8 MURABAHA RECEIVABLES

2021 2020

Note US$ '000 US$ '000

International commodity Murabaha       606,909        338,485 

Murabaha receivables       701,271        906,852 

Deferred profits 8.1        (13,663)           (4,353)

Allowance for credit losses          (3,493)           (6,396)

1,291,024   1,234,588    

8.1

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Deferred profit at the beginning of the year           4,243            5,219 

Murabaha sales revenue during the year         19,726          25,939 

Murabaha cost of sales          (5,424)         (16,766)

        14,302            9,173 

Deferred profit collected or settled during the year        (15,232)           (9,856)

Deferred profit settled during the year             (555)              (293)

Deferred profit at the end of the year 2,758          4,243           

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Murabaha receivables, net of deferred profits 1,288,753        5,764               -                      1,294,517         

Allowances for credit losses (3,384)              (109)                -                      (3,493)               

        1,285,369                5,655                        -          1,291,024 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Murabaha receivables, net of deferred profits 1,189,612        51,372             -                      1,240,984         

Allowances for credit losses (5,181)              (1,215)              -                      (6,396)               

        1,184,431              50,157                        -          1,234,588 

This represents deferred profits amounting to US$ 2,758 thousand (2020: US$ 4,243 thousand)

and US$ 10,905 thousand (2020: US$ 110 thousand) relating to murabaha receivables and

international commodity murabaha respectively. The movement of deferred profits relating to

murabaha receivables is as follows: 

The fair value of the Sukuk carried at amortised cost as at 31 December 2021 are US$ 873,698

thousand (31 December 2020: US$ 890,704 thousand).

The Group considers the promise made by the purchase orderer in the Murabaha contract as obligatory.

31 December 2020

31 December 2021

The following is the stage wise break up of Murabaha receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 31

December 2020:
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8 MURABAHA RECEIVABLES (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2021 5,181               1,215               -                      6,396                

Net transfer between stages 210                  (210)                -                      -                        

(Reversal) for the year - net               (2,007)                  (896)                        -                (2,903)

              (1,797)               (1,106)                        -                (2,903)

As at 31 December 2021                3,384                   109                        -                 3,493 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2020 4,600               6,797               -                      11,397              

Net transfer between stages (20)                  20                    -                      -                        

Charge / (reversal) for the year - net                   601               (5,602)                        -                (5,001)

                  581               (5,582)                        -                (5,001)

As at 31 December 2020                5,181                1,215                        -                 6,396 

9 IJARAH 

2021 2020

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek US$ '000 US$ '000

Cost:

At 1 January 268,182      435,682       

Additions during the year 8,959          -               

Disposals / maturities during the year (69,633)             (167,500)

At the end of the year 207,508      268,182       

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 104,958      237,548       

Depreciation charge for the year 25,876        34,910         

Relating to disposals during the year (53,245)             (167,500)

At the end of the year 77,589        104,958       

Net book value:

At the end of the year 129,919      163,224       

Ijarah receivables 644             716              

Allowance for credit losses (1,595)         (4,721)          

Total Ijarah 128,968      159,219       

In Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek, the legal title of the leased asset passes to the lessee at the end of the

Ijarah term provided that all Ijarah instalments are settled and the lessee purchases the asset.

An analysis of movement in the allowance for credit losses during the year is as follows:
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9 IJARAH (continued)

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Ijarah income – gross 30,753        42,471         

Depreciation provided during the year (25,876)       (34,910)        

Ijarah income – net 4,877          7,561           

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Ijarah 130,563           -                      -                      130,563            

Allowance for credit losses (1,595)              -                      -                      (1,595)               

           128,968                        -                        -             128,968 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Ijarah 147,357           16,583             -                      163,940            

Allowance for credit losses (1,032)              (3,689)              -                      (4,721)               

           146,325              12,894                        -             159,219 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2021 1,032               3,689               -                      4,721                

Charge / (reversal) for the year - net                   563                  (412)                        -                    151 

Assets derecognised                        -               (3,277)                        -                (3,277)

As at 31 December 2021                1,595                        -                        -                 1,595 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2020 1,345               1,239               -                      2,584                

(Reversal) / charge for the year - net                  (313)                2,450                        -                 2,137 

As at 31 December 2020                1,032                3,689                        -                 4,721 

10 OTHER ASSETS

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Accrued income receivable 6,542          8,264           

Others 1,262          1,251           

Allowance for credit losses (32)              (22)               

7,772          9,493           

There are no impaired Ijarah as at 31 December 2021 (2020: US$ nil).

The following are the stage wise break up of Ijarah as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

An analysis of movement in the allowance for credit losses during the year is as follows:

Details of Ijarah income are as follows:
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11 MURABAHA AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Customers’ accounts 122,806      105,165       

Banks balances 163,827      122,763       

Due to the Parent 2,026          235,907       

288,659      463,835       

12 OTHER LIABILITIES

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Zakah and charity funds payable 444             447              

Staff related accruals 4,694          4,101           

Unearned income 2,764          3,500           

Accrued charges and other liabilities 9,520          9,444           

Tabdeel fair value 11,419        50,478         

Allowance for credit losses on credit related 

    contingent items and commitments 2,373          985              

31,214        68,955         

13 EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS

2021 2020 2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000 Rate of Rate of

return return

% %

Denominated in US$

From the Parent 1,688,525   1,485,853   0.57 1.12

From other customers 26,644        2,002          0.54 0.84

   1,715,169    1,487,855 

These represent funds received from customers under Wakala arrangements which are then held by the

Group under multi-level arrangements to invest funds received under “Wakala" as “Mudaraba” under

express authority from Wakala account holders in its financing and investment assets. There is no

restriction on the Group with respect to assets and therefore these are commingled with the Group's

funds. Under these Wakala agreements, the Group agrees a target rate and any rate beyond that is

considered as incentive fee or the Group's share as Mudarib. Profit is allocated to Wakala funds on the

basis of their contribution in the commingled assets.

As at 31 December 2021, following funds were used for financing the profit earning assets of the Group

i.e. investments, murabaha receivables and Ijarah. The assets financed by these Wakala deposits carry

profit rates ranging from 0.92% to 6.18% per annum (2020: 1.24% to 6.18% per annum).
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13 EQUITY OF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT HOLDERS (continued)

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

At 1 January 1,487,855   1,438,347    

Net movement during the year 219,932               31,575 

Income during the year, net of direct expenses 35,229        42,060         

Less:

Expenses charged during the year (839)            (8,614)          

Incentive / performance fee (27,008)       (15,513)        

          7,382          17,933 

At 31 December 1,715,169   1,487,855    

14 OWNERS' EQUITY

(i) Share capital

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Authorised - 2,000,000 shares of US$ 100 each

(2020: 2,000,000 shares of US$ 100 each) 200,000      200,000       

Issued, subscribed and fully paid - 1,325,000 shares of 

US$ 100 each (2020: 1,325,000 shares of US$ 100 each) 132,500      132,500       

(ii) Statutory reserve

15 PROPOSED DIVIDENDS

16 MEMORANDUM ITEMS

Credit-related financial instruments

Commitments to extend financing represents contractual commitments under Murabaha receivables.

Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments

may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future

cash requirements.

These include commitments to enter into financing contracts, which are designed to meet the

requirements of the Group’s customers.

The Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of US$ 20.29 per share (2020: US$ 19.44 per

share) amounting to US$ 26.9 million (2020: US$ 25.8 million). The proposed dividend will be submitted

for approval at the Annual Ordinary General Meeting of the shareholders to be held in 2022. The

payment of dividend is also subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

Movement of Wakala funds during the year is as follow: 

In accordance with the requirements of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, 10% of the net profit

for the year has been transferred to statutory reserve. The Group may resolve to discontinue such

annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is not

distributable but can be utilised as security for the purpose of a distribution in such circumstances as

stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and with the prior approval of the CBB.

The Group did not receive any contingent remuneration during the year. The Group charges a nominal

agent fee.

Letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances commit the Group to make payments on behalf of

customers contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.
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16 MEMORANDUM ITEMS (continued)

Credit-related financial instruments (continued)

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Short-term self-liquidating trade and transaction-related contingent items 110,422      112,360       

Direct credit substitutes, guarantees 80,895        78,215         

Undrawn loan and other commitments 1,185          1,235           

192,502      191,810       

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Credit related contingent items and commitments 89,265             8,691               1,706               99,662              

Allowance for credit losses (335)                (834)                (1,204)              (2,373)               

             88,930                7,857                   502               97,289 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Credit related contingent items and commitments 87,304             9,071               -                      96,375              

Allowance for credit losses (179)                (806)                -                      (985)                  

             87,125                8,265                        -               95,390 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2021 179                              806 -                    985                

Net transfer between stages (2)                  (7)                  9                                        - 

Charge for the year - net                158                  35             1,195              1,388 

               156                  28             1,204              1,388 

As at 31 December 2021                335                834             1,204              2,373 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

As at 1 January 2020 491               664               -                    1,155             

Reversal / (charge) for the year - net               (312)                142                     -                (170)

As at 31 December 2020                179                806                     -                 985 

The Group expects that not all of the credit exposure after applying a credit conversion factor or

commitments will be drawn before expiry of the commitments.

The following are the stage wise break up of credit related contingent items and commitments after

applying credit conversion factors (CCF): 

The Group has the following credit related contingent items and commitments on behalf of customers:

An analysis of movement in the allowance for credit losses during the year is as follows:

31 December 2021

31 December 2020
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17 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME - NET

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Fee and commission income 5,677          7,648           

Fee and commission expense (496)            (374)             

5,181          7,274           

18 OTHER EXPENSES

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Charges by ABC (B.S.C.) 2,217          700              

Business related expenses 152             140              

Professional fees and licenses 534             431              

Other operating expenses 676             611              

3,579          1,882           

19 CHARGE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES - NET

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Due from financial institutions 36               (34)               

Investments 7 (2,509)         (12,484)        

Murabaha receivables 8 2,903          5,001           

Ijarah 9 (151)            (2,137)          

Other assets (10)              (13)               

Other liabilities 16 (1,388)         170              

Reversal of / (charge for) expected credit losses - net (1,119)         (9,497)          

20 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Net income for the year 29,865        28,612         

Other comprehensive loss

Net fair value movements of equity investment during the year (64)              (679)             

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (64)              (679)             

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 29,801        27,933         

21 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group has physical operations and offices solely in the Kingdom of Bahrain and, as such, no

geographical segment information is presented.

The activities of the Group are performed on an integrated basis. Therefore, any segmentation of

operating income, expenses, assets and liabilities is not relevant. As such, operating income, expenses,

assets and liabilities are not segmented.
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22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value

Amortised through

cost equity Total

At 31 December 2021 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Financial assets:

Due from financial institutions 4,978          -                  4,978           

Investments 850,561      1,888          852,449       

Murabaha receivables 1,291,024   -                  1,291,024    

Ijarah 128,968      -                  128,968       

Other Assets 7,533          -                  7,533           

Total 2,283,064   1,888          2,284,952    

Fair value

Amortised through

cost equity Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Financial liabilities and equity of investments

account holders:

Other liabilities 31,214        -                  31,214         

Murabaha and other payables 288,659      -                  288,659       

Equity of investment account holders 1,715,169   -                  1,715,169    

Total 2,035,042   -                  2,035,042    

Fair value

Amortised through

cost equity Total

At 31 December 2020 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Financial assets:

Due from financial institutions 4,942          -                  4,942           

Investments 890,949      1,952          892,901       

Murabaha receivables 1,234,588   -                  1,234,588    

Ijarah 159,219      -                  159,219       

Other Assets 9,050          -                  9,050           

Total 2,298,748   1,952          2,300,700    

Fair value

Amortised through

cost equity Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Financial liabilities and equity of investments

account holders:

Other liabilities 68,955        -                  68,955         

Murabaha and other payables 463,835      -                  463,835       

Equity of investment account holders 1,487,855   -                  1,487,855    

Total 2,020,645   -                  2,020,645    

Set out below is an overview of financial instruments, other than bank balances, held by the Group:
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22 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Financial assets:

Investments 850,561      873,698      890,949      890,704       

Fair value hierarchy

23 RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Balance with ABC (B.S.C.)         46,012          11,748 

Murabaha receivables       596,004        338,375 

Murabaha and other payables         34,527        259,355 

Equity of investment account holder    1,688,525     1,485,853 

Other liabilities         16,628          57,283 

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable.

All quoted investments and equities qualify under level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. There have been no

transfers between the fair value hierarchies.

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value

Fair values of quoted securities are derived from quoted market prices in active markets, if available. For

unquoted securities, fair value is estimated using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques

may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair value of another

instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial

instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

The Group enters into transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business at commercial

rates. All the financing contracts with the related parties are performing and are free of any allowance for

credit losses. 

Related parties represent the parent, ultimate parent, associates, directors and key management

personnel of the Group and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by Group and

such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group's management.

Balances with the related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as

follows:

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and

Except for the following, the fair value of financial instruments which are carried at amortised cost are

not materially different from their carrying value:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between

knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
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23 RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Income from Murabaha receivables 463            2,553         

Profit on Murabaha and other payables 116            1,869         

Return on equity of investment account holder 7,336         17,919       

Charges by ABC (B.S.C.) 2,217         700            

Board of Directors fees 134            136            

Shari'a Supervisory Board fees 120            120            

Compensation of key management personnel is as follows:

2021 2020

US$ '000 US$ '000

Short term employee benefits 2,507         2,050         

Post employment benefits 474            395            

24 RISK MANAGEMENT

Introduction

Risk management structure

Key management personnel are those who possess significant decision making and direction setting

responsibilities at different grades within the Group. 

Income and expenses arising from dealings with related parties included in the consolidated statement of

income are as follows:

Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification,

measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is

critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk

exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, market

risk and operational risk.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment,

technology and industry. They are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning process.

The major risks to which the Group is exposed in conducting its business and operations, and the means

and organisational structure it employs in seeking to manage them strategically in building shareholder

value, are outlined below.

Executive Management is responsible for implementing the Group's Risk Strategy/Appetite and Policy

guidelines set by the Board Risk Committee (BRC), including the identification and evaluation on a

continuous basis of all significant risks to the business and the design and implementation of appropriate

internal controls to minimise them. This is done with the involvement of a Risk Manager and through the

following board committees:

a) The Audit Committee, which is responsible to the Board of Directors for ensuring the integrity and

effectiveness of the Group's system of financial, accounting and risk management controls and practices

and for monitoring compliance with the requirements of the regulatory authorities. The Audit Committee is

also responsible for recommending the appointment, compensation and oversight of the external auditors

and the appointment of internal audit function.
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24

Risk management structure (continued)

b) The Board Risk Committee (BRC), which is responsible for the review and approval of the Group's credit

and risk policies. BRC reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding the risk

strategy/appetite, within which business strategy, objectives and targets are formulated. BRC delegates

authority to senior management to conduct day-to-day business within the prescribed policy and strategy

parameters, whilst ensuring that processes and controls are adequate to manage the Group's Risk Policies

and Strategy.

BRC is responsible for the continual review and approval of the Risk Policies and Medium Term and Annual

Risk Strategy/Appetite, within which business strategy, objectives and targets are formulated. BRC reviews

the Group’s Risk Profile to ensure that it is within the Risk Policies and Appetite parameters.

For all levels throughout the Group, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to

ensure that all business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date information. 

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The following committees of ABC (B.S.C.) assist the Group with its risk management:

The Group Credit Committee (GCC) is responsible for credit decisions, setting country and other high level

limits, dealing with impaired assets and general credit policy matters.

The Group Asset and Liability Committee (GALCO) is primarily responsible for defining long-term strategic

plans and short-term tactical initiatives for directing asset and liability allocation prudently for the

achievement of the Group’s strategic goals. GALCO monitors the Group’s liquidity and market risks and the

Group’s risk profile in the context of economic developments and market fluctuations, to ensure that the

Group’s ongoing activities are compatible with the risk/reward guidelines approved by the BRC.

The Group Operational Risk Management Committee oversees the independent Operational Risk

Management function and is responsible for defining long-term strategic plans and short-term tactical

initiatives to prudently manage, control and measure exposure to operational risks.

Shari’a compliance risk is an operational risk facing Islamic banks which can lead to non-recognition of

income, reputational loss and resulting franchise risk on grounds of non-Shari’a compliance. To manage

such risks, the Shari’a Compliance Officer of the Group has been tasked to conduct regular Shari’a

compliance reviews to ensure that documentation, procedures and execution of transactions are in

accordance with the Shari’a Standards issued by the AAOIFI and Shari’a rules and principles as determined

by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank [the SSB]. The results of such reviews are being regularly

reported to the SSB. Cases of non-Shari’a compliance are thoroughly investigated to establish causes of

occurrence and to introduce adequate controls to avoid their recurrence in the future.

The Group’s risks are measured using a method which reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in

normal circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on

statistical models. The models make use of probabilities derived from historical experience, adjusted to

reflect the economic environment. The Group also runs worse case scenarios that would arise in the event

that extreme events which are unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur.

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Group. These

limits reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Group as well as the level of risk that the

Group is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition, the Group monitors

and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risk

types and activities.
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Credit risk

Type of credit risk

Murabaha receivables

Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the

other party to incur a financial loss. The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit

exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties, and continuously assessing the

creditworthiness of counterparties. In addition to monitoring credit limits, the Group manages the credit

exposure by entering into collateral arrangements with counterparties in appropriate circumstances, and

limiting the duration of exposure. In certain cases the Group may also close out transactions or assign

them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk.

The Group finances Murabaha transactions through buying a commodity which represents the object of the

Murabaha and then resells this commodity to the Murabeh (beneficiary) after computing a margin of profit

over cost. The sale price (cost plus the profit margin) is repaid in instalments by the Murabeh over the

agreed period.  The Murabeh pays a down payment of the sale price upon signing the Murabaha contract. 

The legal title of the leased asset under Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek passes to the lessee at the end of the

Ijarah term, provided that all Ijarah instalments are settled and the lessee purchases the asset.

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 

enhancements

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group's concentration of risk is managed by geographical region and by industry sector. The table

below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of

financial position, including credit related commitments. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before

the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Various contracts entered into by the Group which are exposed to credit risk mainly comprise of Murabaha

receivables and Ijarah.

The first level of protection against undue credit risk is through the country, industry and other risk threshold

limits, together with customer and customer group credit limits, set by the Parent BRC and the GCC, and

allocated between subsidiaries of ABC (B.S.C.). Credit exposure to individual customers or customer

groups is then controlled through a tiered hierarchy of delegated approval authorities based on the risk

rating of the customer under the Group’s internal credit rating system. Where unsecured facilities sought

are considered to be beyond prudential limits, the Group policies require collateral to mitigate the credit risk

in the form of cash, securities, or legal charges over the customer's assets or third-party guarantees. The

Group also employs threshold 'risk adjusted return on capital' as a measure to evaluate the risk/reward

relationship at the transaction approval stage.
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Credit risk (continued)

Net maximum

 exposure

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Bank balances       46,590                -                       -   46,590                        46,590 

Due from financial institutions         5,000                -                       -   5,000                            4,978 

Investments      851,704                -               23,487 875,191                    850,561 

Murabaha receivables   1,288,753           5,764                     -   1,294,517              1,291,024 

Ijarah 130,563                   -                       -   130,563                    128,968 

Other assets         7,565                -                       -   7,565                            7,533 

Total   2,330,175           5,764             23,487        2,359,426        2,329,654 

Credit related contingent items and commitment

Short-term self-liquidating 

trade and transaction-related contingent items       89,630         17,381               3,411 110,422                    108,192 

Direct credit substitutes, guarantees       80,895                -                       -   80,895                        80,754 

Undrawn loan and other commitments         1,185                -                       -   1,185                            1,183 

Total      171,710         17,381               3,411           192,502           190,129 

Net maximum

exposure

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total US$ '000

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Bank balances       12,212                -                       -   12,212                        12,212 

Due from financial institutions         5,000                -                       -   5,000                            4,942 

Investments      889,590                -               23,480 913,070                    890,949 

Murabaha receivables   1,189,612         51,372                     -   1,240,984              1,234,588 

Ijarah      147,357         16,583                     -   163,940                    159,219 

Other assets         9,072                -                       -   9,072                            9,050 

Total   2,252,843         67,955             23,480        2,344,278        2,310,960 

Credit related contingent items and commitment

Short-term self-liquidating 

trade and transaction-related contingent items       94,217         18,143                     -   112,360                    112,246 

Direct credit substitutes, guarantees       78,215                -                       -   78,215                        77,345 

Undrawn loan and other commitments         1,235                -                       -   1,235                            1,234 

Total      173,667         18,143                     -             191,810           190,825 

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 

enhancements (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Gross maximum exposure

2021

Gross maximum exposure

2020
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Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

      114,452                     -                       -             114,452 

Arab World:

-  Middle East    2,124,527               5,655               2,987        2,133,169 

-  Africa         82,033                     -                       -               82,033 

2,321,012   5,655              2,987              2,329,654       

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

77,248                           -                       -               77,248 

Arab World:

-  Middle East    2,143,822             63,051               3,730        2,210,603 

Asia:

        23,109                     -                       -               23,109 

2,244,179   63,051                          3,730 2,310,960       

Liabilities,

and owners'

equity

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

           851                -                       -                       -                      -   

Arab World:

-  Middle East   2,305,834       171,375             16,547               2,207           190,129 

      25,291                -                       -                       -                      -   

Total 2,331,976 171,375      16,547                          2,207 190,129         

equity of investment 

account holders

2021

Memorandum items

Europe 

(including Turkey)

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

-  Africa

A geographical regions analysis of the Group's liabilities, equity of investment account holders, owners'

equity and memorandum items is as follows:

The Group's assets can be analysed by the following geographical regions:

Europe 

(including Turkey)

Europe 

Assets

2021

Assets

2020

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business

activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause

their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other

conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to

developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. The Group seeks to manage its credit

risk exposure through diversification of financing and investment activities to avoid undue concentrations of

risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or businesses.

(including Turkey)

-  Far East
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Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration (continued)

Liabilities,

and owners'

equity

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

           971                -                       -                       -                      -   

Arab World:

-  Middle East   2,294,251       173,488             17,337                     -             190,825 

      18,307                -                       -                       -                      -   

Total 2,313,529 173,488      17,337                                -   190,825         

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Manufacturing 259,009                    5,655                     -   264,664         

Trading 60,945                           -                       -   60,945           

Banks and financial institutions 1,045,977                       -                       -   1,045,977       

Government 617,965                          -                       -   617,965         

Commercial real estate 24,734                           -                       -   24,734           

Transportation 70,058                           -                       -   70,058           

Construction 5,683                             -                       -   5,683             

Other 236,641                          -                 2,987 239,628         

Total 2,321,012   5,655              2,987              2,329,654       

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Manufacturing 250,365      3,666                                  -   254,031         

Trading 13,976       46,491                                -   60,467           

Banks and financial institutions 823,980                          -                       -   823,980         

Government 783,428                          -                       -   783,428         

Commercial real estate 25,309                           -                       -   25,309           

Transportation 83,391       12,894                                -   96,285           

Media and telecommunications 2,277                             -                       -   2,277             

Construction 6,096                             -                       -   6,096             

Other 255,357                          -                 3,730 259,087         

Total 2,244,179   63,051                          3,730 2,310,960       

An industry sector analysis of the Group's assets, net is as follows:

Memorandum items

equity of investment 

account holders

Assets

(including Turkey)

-  Africa

2020

Europe 

Assets

2021

2020

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration (continued)

Liabilities,

and owners'

equity

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Manufacturing       29,068         99,086               2,485                     -             101,571 

Construction               -                  -               14,062                     -               14,062 

Trading         2,803           7,863                     -                       -                 7,863 

Banks and financial institutions   1,922,103                89                     -                       -                      89 

Transportation         3,818           2,105                     -                       -                 2,105 

Technology, Media and telecommunications            761                -                       -                 2,207               2,207 

Other      373,423         62,232                     -                       -               62,232 

Total 2,331,976 171,375      16,547                          2,207 190,129         

Liabilities,

and owners'

equity

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Manufacturing         5,477       116,990               2,240                     -             119,230 

Construction               -                  -               14,104                     -               14,104 

Trading            759           6,387                  993                     -                 7,380 

Banks and financial institutions   1,924,876                89                     -                       -                      89 

Transportation         3,624                -                       -                       -                      -   

Other      378,793         50,022                     -                       -               50,022 

Total 2,313,529 173,488      17,337                                -   190,825         

Standard grade: These borrowers are rated between 5 and 8 and are of good to marginal credit quality,

often with  lower external credit ratings than high grade and considered as higher risk.

An industry sector analysis of the Group's liabilities, equity of investment account holders, owners' equity

and memorandum items is as follows:

Substandard grade: These borrowers are rated between 9 and 10 and full repayment is questionable.

Memorandum items

equity of investment 

account holders

The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. These internal

credit ratings comprise of 20 rating levels ranging from 1 to 11 for each individual borrower. They are

defined as follows:  

equity of investment 

account holders

High grade: These borrowers are rated between 1 and 4 and are of high credit quality, most with strong

external credit ratings and considered as low risk.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Memorandum items

2020

Past due or individually impaired: These borrowers are rated 9 to 11 and either full repayment is

questionable or they are expected to be a total loss.

2021
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Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration (continued)

High Standard Past due or Past due

grade grade individually but not

(1-4) (5-8) impaired impaired Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Bank balances       46,012              578                     -                       -               46,590 

Due from financial institutions               -             4,978                     -                       -                 4,978 

Investments 601,767    245,807                    2,987                     -             850,561 

Murabaha receivables 724,622    566,402                          -                       -          1,291,024 

Ijarah 7,438        121,530                          -                       -             128,968 

Other assets 5,191        2,342                             -                       -                 7,533 

  1,385,030       941,637               2,987                       -        2,329,654 

High Standard Past due or Past due

grade grade individually but not

(1-4) (5-8) impaired impaired Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

Bank balances       11,748 464                                -                       -               12,212 

Due from financial institutions               -   4,942                             -                       -                 4,942 

Investments      669,277 217,942                    3,730                     -             890,949 

Murabaha receivables      661,305 571,282                            -               2,001        1,234,588 

Ijarah       19,297 139,922                          -                       -             159,219 

Other assets         6,104 2,946                             -                       -                 9,050 

  1,367,731       937,498               3,730               2,001        2,310,960 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

High grade (1-4)    1,387,518                     -                       -          1,387,518 

Standard grade (5-8)       942,657               5,764                     -             948,421 

Past due or individually impaired                -                       -               23,487             23,487 

Past due but not impaired                -                       -                       -                      -   

Less: allowance for credit losses         (9,163)                 (109)            (20,500)           (29,772)

2,321,012   5,655              2,987              2,329,654       

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's

internal credit rating system and stage classification.

31 December 2021

31 December 2020 Neither past due nor 

impaired

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

31 December 2021 Neither past due nor 

impaired

The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset, based on the Group's credit rating

system.
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Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk concentration (continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

High grade (1-4)        1,370,771                   -                       -         1,370,771 

Standard grade (5-8)           880,066           67,956                     -           948,022 

Past due or individually impaired                    -                     -                23,480           23,480 

Past due but not impaired               2,005                   -                       -               2,005 

Less: allowance for credit losses             (8,664)            (4,904)             (19,750)          (33,318)

2,244,178       63,052                         3,730 2,310,960     

Market risk

Profit rate risk

Interest rate benchmark reform (IBOR reform)

Currency risk

31 Decmber 2020

The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The

types of collateral mainly includes cash, charges over real estate properties, inventory and trade

receivables.

Collateral and other credit enhancements

IBOR reform is heading into second phase, which relates to the replacement of benchmark rates with

alternative risk-free rates. The impact of rate replacement on the Group’s products and services is one

of the critical drivers of this project. With an aim to achieve an orderly transition and to mitigate the risks

resulting from the transition, the Group’s management is in the process of planning for the Group’s

transition project and continues to engage with various stakeholders. This project is expected to have a

pervasive impact on the entity, in terms of scale and complexity and will impact products, internal

systems and processes.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with

the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the

adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses. The Group also makes use of master netting

agreements with counterparties.

The Group's transactions are carried out substantially in US Dollars, and as such currency risk is

minimal.

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect the future profitability or

the fair values of the financial instruments. The Group is exposed to profit rate risk as a result of

mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities that mature in a given period.

For every 25 basis points increase/decrease in profit rate, the Group's profit would increase/decrease by

US$ 549 thousand (2020: US$ 400 thousand).

The Group uses ABC (B.S.C.)'s established risk management policies and limits within which exposure

to market risk is monitored. These are measured and controlled by the Risk Management Department

(RMD) with strategic oversight exercised by GALCO by ABC B.S.C. The RMD’s Market Risk

Management (MRM) unit is responsible for developing and implementing market risk policy and risk

measuring/monitoring methodology and for reviewing all new trading products and product limits prior to

GALCO approval. MRM’s core responsibility is to measure and report market risk against limits

throughout the ABC (B.S.C.)'s subsidiaries.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an institution will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity

risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of

funding to cease immediately. To guard against this risk, management has diversified funding sources

and assets are managed with liquidity in mind.

The Bank is also required to comply with the liquidity requirements as stipulated by its regulator, CBB,

which became effective during the year 2019. These requirements relate to maintaining a minimum of

100% liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) and net stable funding ratio (NSFR). However, based on the

regulatory directive issued by the CBB in response to COVID 19 measures, the minimum NSFR has

been reduced to 80% till 31 December 2021. LCR is calculated as a ratio of the stock of high quality

liquid assets and net outflows over the next 30 calendar days. NSFR is calculated as a ratio of ‘available

stable funding’ to ‘required stable funding’. The Bank has received an approval from the CBB to report

LCR and NSFR at aggregate levels, and not at individual level. As at 31 December 2021, the reported

LCR and NSFR were at 217.5% (2020: 407.5) and 113.3% (2020: 107.8%) respectively.
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Liquidity risk (continued)

31 December 2021 Up to 1 to 3 3 to 6 6 months to 1 to 3 Over No fixed

1 month months months 1 year years 3 years maturity Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000
ASSETS

Bank balances 46,590                     -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -   46,590        

Due from financial institutions               -                  -                  -            4,978                -                 -                 -   4,978          

Investments               -          10,022                -                  -   231,257     609,282    1,888       852,449      

Murabaha receivables 431,210    459,248     37,395                      -        363,171               -                 -   1,291,024   

Ijarah               -   313            10,421       10,722       39,202       68,310                    -   128,968      

Equipment               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   195          195             

Other assets               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   7,772       7,772          

Total assets 477,800    469,583     47,816       15,700       633,630     677,592    9,855       2,331,976   

LIABILITIES, EQUITY OF INVESTMENT

 ACCOUNT HOLDERS AND OWNERS' EQUITY

Other liabilities               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   31,214     31,214        
Murabaha and other payables     288,659                -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -   288,659      
Equity of investment account holders 288,840    949,918     113,240                    -        363,171               -                 -   1,715,169   

Owners' equity               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   296,934   296,934      

Total liabilities, equity of investment 

account holders and owners' equity 577,499    949,918     113,240                    -        363,171               -   328,148   2,331,976   

Net liquidity gap (99,699)    (480,335)   (65,424)     15,700       270,459     677,592    (318,293)  

Cumulative liquidity gap* (99,699)    (580,034)   (645,458)   (629,758)   (359,299)   318,293                  -   

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on

the basis of the remaining period at the consolidated statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date and do not take account of the effective

maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history.  

The maturity profile of assets, liabilities, equity of investment account holders and owners' equity is as follows:

*(Since the majority of the equity of the investment account holders are due to the Parent, management believes that the cumulative liquidity gap does not give

rise to liquidity risk for the Group)
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Liquidity risk (continued)

31 December 2020 Up to 1 to 3 3 to 6 6 months to 1 to 3 Over No fixed

1 month months months 1 year years 3 years maturity Total

US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000 US$ '000

ASSETS

Bank balances 12,212                     -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -   12,212        

Due from financial institutions               -                  -                  -                  -            4,942               -                 -   4,942          

Investments               -                  -          76,452        35,675 177,105     601,717    1,952       892,901      

Murabaha receivables 813,942    281,236     65,044       74,366                      -                 -                 -   1,234,588   

Ijarah -           1,353         13,206       10,200       49,436       85,024                    -   159,219      

Equipment               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   174          174             

Other assets               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   9,493       9,493          

Total assets 826,154    282,589     154,702     120,241     231,483     686,741    11,619     2,313,529   

LIABILITIES, EQUITY OF INVESTMENT

 ACCOUNT HOLDERS AND OWNERS' EQUITY

Other liabilities               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   68,955     68,955        

Murabaha and other payables 463,835                   -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -   463,835      

Equity of investment account holders 462,015    829,894     145,946            50,000                -                 -                 -   1,487,855   

Owners' equity               -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -   292,884   292,884      

Total liabilities, equity of investment 

account holders and owners' equity 925,850    829,894     145,946            50,000                -                 -   361,839   2,313,529   

Net liquidity gap (99,696)    (547,305)   8,756         70,241       231,483     686,741    (350,220)  

Cumulative liquidity gap* (99,696)    (647,001)   (638,245)   (568,004)   (336,521)   350,220                  -   

*(Since the majority of the equity of the investment account holders are due to the Parent, management believes that the cumulative liquidity gap does not give

rise to liquidity risk for the Group)
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25 SHARI'A SUPERVISORY BOARD

26 EARNINGS AND EXPENSES PROHIBITED BY SHARI’A

27 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

28 TABDEEL TRANSACTIONS

Earnings realised during the year from transactions that were not permitted by Shari’a amounted to US$

10 thousand (2020: US$ 22 thousand). This amount has been taken to the charity fund.

The Group's Shari'a Supervisory Board consists of three Islamic Scholars who review the Group's

compliance with general Shari'a principles and specific Fatwas, rulings and guidelines issued. Their

review includes examination of evidence relating to the documentation and procedures adopted by the

Group to ensure that its activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Shari'a principles.

The Group discharges its social responsibility by paying out Zakah and charity to organisations approved

by the Shari’a Supervisory Board.

The Group enters into Tabdeel transactions (profit rate swaps) with ABC (B.S.C.) to hedge the fair

values changes arising due to changes in profit rates on its fixed rate Sukuk instruments. These are

structured in a murabaha and reverse murabaha mechanism. The Group classifies these as fair value

hedges and they are considered highly effective hedges. Tabdeel transactions are carried at fair value

using valuation techniques based on observable market inputs and include fair value hedges which are

predominantly used to hedge fair value changes arising from profit rate fluctuations. The notional value

of outstanding Tabdeel transactions was US$ 840,000 thousand at 31 December 2021 (31 December

2020: US$ 841,075 thousand) and a negative fair value of US$ 11,419 thousand (2020: US$ 50,478

thousand). 
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ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.)
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IMPACT OF NOVEL CORONAVIRUS ("Covid-19") 

•        

•      

•     

•        

•       

In summary the financial impact in the consolidated financial statements is given below:

On 11 March 2020, the spread of the Covid-19 around the world was declared a pandemic by the World

Health Organisation. Many countries, including the Kingdom of Bahrain and other countries, have

implemented restrictions aimed at limiting the rate of its spread which have had an immediate impact on

people, businesses and economies. To the extent the Covid-19 pandemic continues to adversely affect

the global economy and adversely affects the business, results of operations or financial condition, it

may also have the effect of increasing the likelihood and/or magnitude of other risks. 

In response to the economic and market conditions resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic, governments, 

and regulatory authorities, including central banks, have acted to provide fiscal and monetary stimuli to

support the global economy. The Central Bank of Bahrain ("CBB") and other government entities have

supported among other things the following: 

implemented programs to promote liquidity including profit free repurchase agreements; 

required banks to provide 6-month payment holidays to eligible customers without charging

additional profit; 

announced programs for supporting businesses by providing direct government assistance; 

clarified supervisory expectations regarding loan modifications due to Covid-19 related non-

payment;  and

clarified expectations for certain bank regulations related to counterparty credit risk, the current

expected credit loss accounting standard and capital adequacy regulatory treatment.  

The Bank activated its business continuity plan and other risk management practices to manage the

potential impact of the business disruption due to the Covid-19 outbreak, on its operations and financial

performance. 

The Bank recorded an ECL credit of US$ 0.8 million, as a result of credit remeasurement on Stage 1

and 2 during year ended 31 December 2021.

The Bank has also provided payment holidays to certain customers as part of its support to impacted

customers. Such support provided to customers with outstanding exposure amounting to US$ 60 million

as of 31 December 2021 did not result in any modification loss or any increase in credit risk for

calculation of ECL. Further, no government assistance was received which required recording in the

Bank's interim consolidated statement of income for the period ended 31 December 2021.

The above interim supplementary information has been provided in accordance with the CBB letter

OG/259/2020 dated 14 July 2020.

US$ million

Item
consolidated statement of 

income

ECL: Stage1/Stage2 + 0.8

Government grant -
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